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Hisabiding testimony, and his assist-

ance with his property to publish the

Book of Mormon, have earned a name
for him that will endure vvhiie time
shall last. Soon after he had re-

ceived his endowments and per-

formed some worli for his dead, he

retired to live with his son, Martin

Harris, jun., at Smithfleld, Cache
Valley, where he was comfortably
cared for in his declining old age.

On the afternoon of his death he was
bolstered up in his bed, where, with

the Book of Mormon in his hånd he
bore his last testimony to those who
were present."

PLURAL MARRIAGE.
As a number of apostates and other

opponents of the truth are continual-

ly attempting to deny certain facts

connected with the introductiou of

plural marriage among the Latter-

day Saints by Joseph Smith, the

Prophet, it has been deemed proper,

in connection with our other his-

torical labors, to compile and re-

publish in the Record the foUowing

statements, testimonies, affldavits,

etc, from truthful and reliable par-

ties, who have been eye and ear

witnesses to the circumstances and

incidents of which they speak ; and

also to add new proofs and testi-

monies to those already made public.

By way of introducing the subject

we quote the following from a com-

munication written by Pres. Jos. F.

Smith and published in the Deseret

News of May 20, 1886 :

"The great and glorious principie

of plural marriage was first revealed
to Joseph Smith in 1831, but being
forbidden to make it public, or to

teacb ir. as a doctrine of the Gospel,
at that time, he confided the facts to

only a very few of his intimate as-

sociates. Among them were Oliver
Cowdery and Lj-man E. Johnson, the
latter confiding the faet to his travel-

ing companion,Elder Orson Pratt, in

the year 1832. (See Orson Pratt's
testimony.) And this great prin-
cipie remained concealed in the bosom
of the Prophet Joseph Smith and the
few to whom he revealed it, until he

was commanded, about 1842, to in-

struct the leading members of the
Priesthood, and those who were most
faitbfuland intelligent, and best pre-

pared to receive it, in relation there-

to, at which time, and subsequently
until his martyrdora, the subject, in

connection with the great principles

of baptism, redemption and sealings

for the dead,became the great themes
of his life, and, as the late Pres.

Geo. A. Smith repeatedly said to me
and others, 'The Prophet seemed
irresistibly moved by the power of

God to establish that principie, not

only in theory, in the liearts and
minds of his brethren, but in prac-

tice also
!

' he himself haviug led the

way. While this doctrine was thus
being taught by the Prophet to those

whom he could trust—those who had
faith, righteousness and integrity, to

believe and accept it, with all its

consequences (which are no trilling

things), it remained an 'unwritten

law' and commandment of the Al-
mighty to the faithful only of His
Saints, designed to be enlarged as

intelligence and fidelity to the laws
of God increased, until the r2th day
of July, 1843, when a portion of the

revelation was written in the manner,
and (at that time) for the purpose
set forth in the statement of Elder
Clayton , now submitted to the

world, and as indicated in the rev-

elation itself , as follows : 'And now,
as perlaining to this law, verily,

verily I say unto yon, I ivill reveal

more unto you hereafter, therefore let

this suffice for the present.' (Verse

66.)
"Let all the Latter-day Saints know
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that Joseph Smith, the martyred
Prophet, is responsible to God and
the world for this doctrine, and let

everj' soul know that he and his
brother HjTum did practice the doc-
trine in their lifetime,and until their
death, notwithstanding their seeming
denials as published in the Times
and Seasons, and which are so fer-
veutly relied upon as evidence against
the faet by a eertain class of anti-
polygamists. Tbose denials can be
explained, and have been, and while
they are true in the sense, and
for the purpose for which they
were designed, they are not denials
of plural or celcstial marriage as
taught by Joseph and Hyrum Smith
and practiced at the tiine by both
of them, and many others in promi-
nent standing in the Church. These
seeming denials themselves are spe-
eific proofs of the existence of the
true coin, the coiinterfeit of which
they denounced.

"Let every Saint know by unira-
peachable testimony, as well as by
the spirilof inspiration, to which each
Saint is entitled, that God Almighty
revealed this doctrine to Joseph the
martyr, and that under God he was
and is the founder, by precept and
example. of the same in the Church.

"Praying God to bless this testi-

mony to the comforting of the Saiuts
and the confusion of their enemies,
1 have the heartfelt pleasure to re-
main eternally yours for the truth,
'if it wake the dead.'

Joseph F. Smith."

Emma Bidamon, widow of Joseph
Smith, the Prophet, died in Nauvoo,
111., April 30, 1879. Shortly after-

wards an article was published in

the Saints' Advocate^n monthly peri-

odical published by the reorganized

Church, at Piano, 111., under the

heading "Last Testimony of Sister

Emma." in which that lady is made
responsible for a statement to the ef-

fect that Joseph Smith, the Prophet,

never in his lifetime taught nor prac-

ticed the principle of plural mar-

riage. This statement, given in the

shape of a dialogue or colloquy,

which was said to have taken place

between Emma Bidamon and her

son (Joseph), brought forth the fol-

lowing from the pen of Apostle Jo-

seph F. Smith:

"Salt Lake City, Oct. 17, 1879.

^•Editor Deseret Neivs:

"DearSir.—While I am aware of
your disinclination to publish the
many foolish fabrications of back-
sliders from the faith, and your gen-
eral reticence on this subject, yet
some statements contained in a paper
lately forwarded me, being of no
ordinary kind, demand the publica-
tion of eertain facts which I have in
my possession, which must he mv
apology for presenting this matter.

"

"No one can regret more than my-
self the necessity of presenting to
the numerous readers of the Netvs,
eertain facts relative to Joseph
Smith (the Prophet) in connection
with the revelation on celestial or
plural marriage and the inaugura-
tion of that doctrine in the Church;
and were it not for the cause of
truth in which I and my children
and the Church are deeply inter-

ested, and in which the whole world
should feel vitallj' concerned, I

would seek to avoid this unpleasant
task.

(Here follows the dialogue above
referred to.)

"In reply to the foregoing, I will

give you the sworn statements and
affidavits of a few reliable persons

—

among whom are two of the wives of
the Prophet Joseph Smith, which I

think, will assert quite as strong
claims for belief and present a much
better appearance of veracity than
the published dialogue between Jo-
seph Smith and his mother, for this

reason, if no other, these people,
well known to this community, are
mostly still living and can be cross-
examined, while 'Sister Emma,' whose
lips are sealed in death, is repre-
sented as denying facts which, it can
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be abundanlly proven, were well

kiiown to lier, aud to many now liv-

ing in these mouutains, besides those

whose affldavits and statements ac-

company this comnuiiiication. It is

but fair to note that these affldavits

were given many years ago, in view

of the deaials then being made by
the representatives of that faction

known as the 'Reorganized Church,'

and before 'Sister Emma,' it is lioped,

ever dreamed of denying facts which

no oue knew better than she did ber-

self, and as I have good reason to

believe, from admissions made to me
by Alexander H. Smith, in 18G6, and
subsequentlj' by Joseph Smith him-

self, before even Joseph coiild mus-
ter the courage or dared to venture

upon the hazardous and untenable

ground his mother, now she is dead,

is made to assume ; which ground, if

her memory of facts had failed, she

should have assumed, herself, years

ago. But to the proof.

''JOSEPH BATES NOBLE'S TESTIMONY.

"Ten-itory of Utah, ) „„
County of Salt Lake. J

"

"Be it remembered, that on this twenty-

sixth day of June, A. D. 18G9, personally

appeaied before me, James Jack, a notary

public in and for said county, Joseph Bates

Noble, who was by me sworn in due form of

lavv, and upon his oath saith, that in the fall

of 1840, Joseph Smith taught him the prin-

ciple of celestial or plural marriage, or a

plurality of wives; and that the said Joseph

Smith declared that he had rcceived a rev-

elatiou from God on the subject, and that

Iho angel of the Lord had comm:inded him
{Joseph Sniith) to move forward in the said

order of marriage; and further, that the said

Joseph Smith requested him (Joseph B.

Noble) to step forward and assist him in

carrying out the said principle, saying, ' In

revealiug this to you, I have placed my life

in your hånds, therefore do not in an evil

hour betray me to my enemies.'

"Subscribed aud sworn to by the said Jo-

eph B. Noble, the day and year first above

written.
Joseph B. Noble.

[SEAL.] J-tMES Jack,
Notary Public."

"Elder Noble is still living at

Bountiful, Davis County, Utah, and
can be examined again on this and
other points connected with this

subject, with which he is familiar.

I will here further state that Elder
Joseph B. Nolile swears ithe afflda-

vit I have on band) before a notary
public, on June 6, 1869, that he did

on April 5, 1841, seal to Joseph
Smith, the Frophet, Miss Louisa
Beaman, according to the revelation

on plural marriage."

"benjamin F. JOHNSOn's TESTmONT.

"The following affldavit was sworn
to before James Jack, a notary pub-
lic, in Salt Lake City, March 4,

1870:

"On the first day of April, A. D. 1843,

President Joseph Smith, Orsou Hyde and
William Cla ton, and others, came from
Nauvoo to my residence iu Jlacedonia or

Eamus, in Hancock County, III., and were
joyfully welcomed by myself aud family as

our guests.

"On the following morning. Pres. Smith
took me by the arm for a walk, leading the

way to a secluded spot withiu an adjacent

grove, where, to my great surprise, he com-
luenced to open tip to me the principle of

plural or celestial marriage; but I was more
.astonished by his asking ii:e for niy sister

Almera to be his wife. I sincerely believed

him to be a Prophet of God, and I loved him
as sueh and also for the many evidences of

his kindness to me, yet such was the force

of my ediication, and the scorn that I felt

towards auythiug unvirtuous, that under
the tirst impulse of my feelings, I looked

him calmly, but tirmly in the face and told

him th.at 'I had always believed him to be

a good man aud wished to believe it still

and would try to; and that I would take for

him a message to my sister, and if the doc-

trine was true, all would be well, but if I

should aflerwards learu that it was oftered

to insult orprostitute my sister,! would take

his life.' With a smile he replied, 'Ben-
jamin, you will never see that day, but you
shall live to know that it is true aud rejoice

iu it.'

"He wished me to see my sister aud talk

to her. I told him I did not know what I

could say to convince her. He replied,

' When you open your mouth you shall be
able to comijreheud, aud you shall not waut
for evideuce nor words.' He also told rae

that he would preach a sermon that day for

me which I would understand, while the rest

of the cougregation would not comprehend
his meaniug. His stibject was the ten

talents, ' unto hi'm that hath shall be given,

and he shall have abundautly, but from him
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that hath not (or will not receive), shaWhe

taken away that which he hath (or might

have had).' Plainly giving me to under-

stand that the talents represented wives and

childreu, as the principle of enlargement

throughout the gi-eat future to those who
were heirs of salvation.

"I called my sister to private andience,and

with fear and trembling and feelings I can-

not express, conimenced to open the subject

to her, when, just as he had promised, the

light of the Lord shone upon rav under-

standing and my tongue was loosed, and /,

at least, was con\'inceU of the truth of what

I was attempting to teach.

"My sister received my testimony, and in

a short time afterwards consented to become

the wife of President Smith.

"Subsequent to this I tooli her to the city

of Nauvoo, where she was married, or sealed

for time and eternily, to President Joseph

Smith, by his brother Hyrum Smith, in the

presence of myself and Louisa Beaman, who
told me she had also been sealed or married

to the Prophet Joseph. This was at the

residence of my sister, the widow of Lyman
K. Sherman, who also was a witness.

"After a short period, President Smith

and Company, -låz., George Miller, Wm.Clay-
ton, J. M. Smith, and Eliza and Emily Par-

tridge (who were the wives of the Prophet)

came again to Macedonia (Ramus), where

he remained two davs, lodging at my house

with my sister as man and wife (and to my
certain knowledge he occupied the same bed

with her). This visit was on the 16th and

17th of May, 1843, returning to Nauvoo on

the 18th.

"Again, on the 19th of October, the same

year, President Smith made us another visit

at Macedonia and remained till the 21st. He
was accompanied by Wm. Clayton. At this

time (Oct. 20th, 1843), he sealed my first wife

to me for time and all eternity. * * *

"He also visited my mother at her res-

idence in Macedonio and taught her in my
hearing the doctrine of celestial marriage,

declaring that an angel appeared unto him

with a drawn sword.threatening to slay him

If he did not proceed to fulfill the law that

had been given to him. And counseled my
mothei to be se.iled to his uucle, Fiither

John Smith (father of Geo. A. Smith), to

which she consented, and to my certain

knowledge was subsequently sealed to him

by the Prophet. * *

"After the death of the Prophet, I told

President Brigham Young what he (Joseph

Smith) had said to me relative to my taking

Mary Ann Hale to vAfe. Pres. Young said

It was right and authorized Father John

Smith to seal her to me, which he did on the

14th of November, 1844.

(Signed) B. F. Johnson.

"apostle lorenzo snow's testimony.

"The followiDg afHdavit was made
before J. C. Wright, clerk of Box
Elder County, Utah, Aug. 28, 1869:

"In the month of April, 1843, I returned

from my European mission. A few days

after my arrival at Nauvoo, when at Pres-

ident Joseph Smith's house, he said he

wished to have some private talk with me,

and requested me to walk out with him. It

was toward evening, we walked a little dis-

tance and s.at down on a large log that lay

near the bankof the river; he there and then

explained to me the doctrine of plurality of

wives.

"He said that the Lord had revealed it

unto him and commanded him to have

women sealed to him as wives, that he fore-

sawthetrouble that would foUowand sought

to turn away from the commandment, that

an angel from heaven appeared before him
with a drawn sword, Ihreatening him with

destructiou unless he went forward and

obeyed the commandment.
"He further said that my sister Eliza R.

Snow had been sealed to him as his wife for

time and eternity.

"He told me that the Lord would open

the way, and I should have women sealed to

me as wives. This conversation was pro-

longed, I think, one hour or more, in which

he told me mauy important things.

"I solemnly deelare before God and holy

angels, and as I hojie to come forth in the

morning of the resurrection, that the above

statement is true.

(Signed) Lorenzo Snow.

"jOHN BENBOW'S AEFIDAVIT.

"Territory of Utah,
County of Salt Lake.

"Be it remembered that on this twenty-

eighth day of August, A. D. 1869, personally

appeared before me, James Jack, a notary

public in and for said county, John Benbow,
who was by me sworn in due form of law,

and upon his oath said that In the spring or

forepart of the summer of 18i3,at his house,

four miles from Nauvoo, County of Hancock,

State of Illinois, President Joseph Smith

t.aught him and his wife, Jane Benbow, the

doctrine of celestial marriage, or plurality of

wives, Hyrum Smith being present.

"And further, that Hannah Elis Smith, a

wife of the Prophet, boarded at his house

two months during the summer of the same
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year; and the said Hannah E. Smith also

lived at his house several months in 1844,

after the Prophet's death. And further,

that President Smith frequently visited his

wife Hannah at his (J. B's.) house.

(Signed) John Benbow.

"Subscribed and sworn to by the said John
Benbow, the day and year tirst written.

[SEAL.] James Jack,
Notary Public.

"I might continue to multiply

those statements and testimonies

both of the living and the dead until

yotir paper could not contain them,

but the foregoing is suflQcient to

prove that Joseph Smith did teach

the doctrine of plural marriage sev-

eral years before his death, and not

only so, but that he did also prac-

tice what he taught. Further, the

faet is establisbed that Joseph Smith
received the revelation on celestial

or plural marriage, and the eternity

of the marriage covenant, prior to

July 12th, 1843, the time when a

portion of said revelation was writ-

ten. * * »

"ELIZA M. PARTKIDGE'S AFFIDAVIT.

"Territory ol Utah, 1 „„
County of Millard. j

*^-

"Be it remembered that on the first day

of July, A. D. 1869, personally appeared be-

fore me, Edward Partridge, probate judge

in and for said county, Eliza M. (Partridge)

Lyman, who was by me sworn in due form

ol law, and upon her oath saith, that on the

Uth day ol May, 1843, at the City ol Nauvoo,

County ol Hancock, State ol Illinois, she was

married or sealed to Joseph Smith, Pres-

ident ol the Church ol Jesus Christ ol Latter-

day Saints, by James Adams, a High Priest

in said Church, * * * in the

presence ol Emma (Hale) Smith and Emily
D. Partridge.

(Signed) Eliza M. (P.) Lyman.

"Subscribed and sworn to by the said

Eliza Maria Lyman, the day and year first

above written.

[sEAL.] Edward Partridge,
Probate Judge.

"eMILT DOW PAKTRIDGE's TESTUiIONT.

"Territory ol Utah, 1 .,
County ol Salt Lake. )

*"•

"Be it remembered that on this the first

day ol May, A. D. 1869, personally appeared

helore me, Ellas Smith, probate judge lor

said county, Emily Dow (P.) Young, who
was by me sworn in due lorm of law, and

upon her oath said, that on the Uth day of

May, A. D. 1843, at the City of Nauvoo,
County of Hancock, State of Illinois, she was
married or sealed to Joseph Smith, President

ol the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day

Saints, by James Adams, a High Priest in

said Church, * * * in presence

ol Emma (Hale) Smith, (now Emma Bida-
mon) and Eliza M. Partridge Smith, (now
Eliza M. Lyman.)

(Signed) Emily D. P. Young.
"Subscribed and sworn to by the said

Emily D. P. Y'oung, the day and year first

above written.

[seal.] Elias Smith,
Probate .ludge.

(Sister Young, in her autobiography,
published in the Woman's Exjjonent,
Vol. 14, page 38, says : "The first

intimation I had from Brother Jo-
seph that there was a pure and holy
order of plural marriage, \tas in the
spring of 1842, but I was not mar-
ried until 1843. 1 was married to

him OL the Uth of May, 1843, by
Elder James Adams. Emma was
present. She gave her free and full

conseot. She had always, up to this

time, been very kind to me and my
bister Eliza, who was also married
to the Prophet Joseph with Emma's
consent. Emma, about this time,
gave her husband two other wives

—

Maria and Sarah Lawrence.")
"One more statement will sufBce

for the present, although, if neces-
sary, many more sworn statements
of reliable individuals could be fur-

nished upon the subject, besides the
testimonies of scores of living wit-

nesses in absolute denial of the al-

leged ' last testimony of Sister

Emma.'

"lovina walker's certificate.

"I Lovina Walker (eldest daughter ol Hy-
rum Smith), hereby certify, that while I was
living with Aunt Emma Smith, in Fulton
City, Fultou County, Illinois, in the year

1846, she told me that she, Emma Smith,

was present and wituessed the marrying or
sealing of Eliza Partridge, Emily Partridge,

Maria Lawrence and Sarah Lawrence to her
husband, Josei^h Smith, and that she gave
her consent thereto.

(Signed) Lovina Walker.

"We hereby witness that Lovina Walker,
made and signed the above statement, on
this 16th day of June, A. D. 1869, at Salt
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Lake City, Salt Lake Co., U. T., of her ovvn

free vvill aud accord.

(Sigaed) Hyrum S. Walker,
Sakah E. Smith,
Joseph F. Smith.

"Again, the foregomg is but a
small part of the testimony that can
be brought forward in relation to

Sister Emma's knowledge of tliis

principle. But is not this sufficient

to convince any honest inquirei that

the alleged ' Last testimony of Sister

Emma,' is incorrect? That Joseph
did, uot only teach, but |)ractice this

doctrine, and that too, with the fuU
knowledge and consent of his first

wife, Emma Smith. Indeed, if there

is anything wanting to establish this

faet, the ladies (except Lovina
Walker, who is now dead) whose
testimonies are given above are still

living, one in this city and the others

in Fillmore, Millard Co., Utah, and
can testify that Emma Smith (late

Emma Bidamon) did herself teach

them the principle, and with her own
hånd gave them to wife to her hus-
band. Respectfully,

Joseph F. Smith."

eliza r. snow's testimony.

The following was also pu blished

in the Deseret News (weekly) of Oct.

22, 1879:

"Recentlj', to my great astonishment, I read

an article headed ' Last TesUmony of Sister

Emma,' published in the i^aints' Advocate,

a pamplilel issued in Piano, 111.

"In the article referred to, her son Joseph
reports himself as interviewiiig his mother
OU the suliject of polygaray, askmg questions

coucerniug his falher. Did his father teach

the principle? Did he practiee or approve

of it? Did his father have other wives than

herself? To all of these and similar In-

quiries, Sister Emma is represented as an-

swering iu the negative, positively affirming

that .JoseiJh, the Prophet, had no other wife

or wives than her; that he ueither taught the

Ijriiiciple of plurality of wives, publicly or

privately.

"I once dearly loved 'Sister Emma,' and
now, for me to believe that she, a once

highly honored woman, should have suuk so

Iow, even in her own estimation, as to deny
what she kneio to be true, seems a palpable

absurdity. If what purports to be her 'last

testimony' was really her testimony, she

died with a libel on her lips—a libel against

her husband— against his wives— against the

truth, and a libel against God; and in pub-
lishing that libel, her son has fastened a

stigma OU the character of his mother, that

can ncver be erased. It is afact that Sister

Emma, of her own free will and choice, gave
her husband four wives, two of whoiu are

now living, and ready to testify that she, not

only gave them to her husband, but that she
taught them the doctrine of plural marriage
and urged them to accept it. And, if her
son wished to degrade his mother in the

estimation of her former associates, those

familiar with the incidents of the period re-

ferred to, he could not do it more effectually

than by proving her denial of any knowledge
of polygamy (celestial marriage), and its

practiee by her husband. Even if her son
ignored his raother's reputation for veracity,

he betler had waited until his father's wives
were silent in death, fur now they are here
living witnesses of the divinity of plural

marriage, as revealed by the Almighty,
through Joseph Smith,who was commauded
to introduce it by taking other wives.

"So far as Sister Emma personally is con-

cerned, I would gladly have been silent and
let her memory rest in peace, had uot her
misguided son, through a sinister policy,

branded her name with gross wickedness

—

charging her with the denial of a sacred

principle which she had heretofore not only

acknowledged but hud acted upon—a prin-

ciple than which there is none more impor-
taut coujprised in the Gospel of the Son of

God.
"It may be asked, Why defend plurality

of wives, since the United States govern-
ment forbids its practiee? The action of the

executors of this government can neither

change nor annihilate a fundamental truth;

and this nation, in preventing the practiee

of plural marriage, shoulders a heavier re-

sponsibility than any nation has ever «s-

sumed, with one exception— that of the

ancieut Jews. If the government can afford

it, we ean. The controveisy is wiih God

—

not us. Eliza R. Snow.
A wife of Joseph Smith, the Prophet.

WILLIAM CLAYTOn'S TESTIMONY.

The following Statement was sworn

to before John T. Caine, a notary

public, in Salt Lake City, Feb. 16,

1874:

"Inasmuch as it may be interesting to

future generations of the members of the

Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints

to learn somethiug of the first teachings of
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the principle of plural marriage by Pres-

ident Joseph Smith, the Prophet, Seer, Rev-

elator and Translator of said Church, I will

give a Short relation of facts which occurred

within my personal knowledge, and also

matters related to me by Fresident Joseph

Smith.

"I was employed as a clerk in President

Joseph Smith's office, under Elder Willard

Richards, and commenced to labor in the

Office on the lOth dav of Febniary, 1S42. I

continued to labor with Elder Richards iintil

he went east to fetch his wife to Nauvoo.

"After Elder Richards started east I was
necessarily thrown constantly into the Com-
pany of President Smith, having to attend

to his public and private business, receiving

and recordingtithings and donations, attend-

ing to land and othcr maiters of business.

Duringthis period I necessarily becamewell
acqu.iinted 'with Emma Smith, the wife of

the Prophet Joseph, and also with the chil-

dren—Julia M. (an adopted daughter), Jo-

seph, Frederick and Alexander, very much
of the business being transacted at the resi-

denoe of the Prophet.
"On the 7th of October, 1842, in the pres-

ence of Bishop Newel K. Whitney and his

wife Elizabeth Ann, President Joseph Smith
appointed me Temple Recorder, and also his

private clerk, placing all records, books,
papers, etc, in my care, and requiring me to

take charge of and preserve them, his clos-

ing words being, ' When I have any revela-

tions to write, you are the one to write

them.

'

"During this perlod the Prophet Joseph
frequently visited my house in my company,
and became well acquaintcd with my wife
Ruth, to whom I had been married five years.

One day in the month of February, 1843,

date not remembered, the Prophet Invited

me to walk with him. During our walk, he
said he had learned that there was a sister

hack in England, to whom I was very much t

attached. I replied there was, but nothing
further than an attachment such as a brother
and sister in the Church might rightfuUy
entertain for each other. He then said,

'Why don't you send for her?' I replied,
' In the tirst place, I have no authority to

send for her, and if I had, I have not the
means to pay expenses.' To this he an-
swered, 'I give you authority to send for

her, and I will fumish you with means,'
which he did. This was the iirst time the
Prophet Joseph talked with me on the
subject of plural marriage. He informed
me that the doctrine and principle was right
in the sight of our Heavenly Father, and
hat it was a doctrine which pertained to

celestial order and glory. After giving me
lengthy instructions and informations con-
cerning the doctrine of celestial or plural

marriage, he concluded his remarks by the

words, 'It is your privilege to have all the

wives you want.' After this introduction,

our conversations on the subject of plural

marriage were very frequent, and he ap-

peared to take particular pains to inform
and instruct me in respect to the principle.

He also informed me that he had other wives
livinri besides his tirst wife Emma, and in

particular gave me to understand that Eliza
R. Snow, Louisa Beman,Desdemona'\V. Full-
mer and others were his lawful wives in the
sight of Heaven.

"On the 27th of April, 1843, the Prophet
Joseph Smith married tome Margaret Moon,
for time and eternity, at the residence of

Elder Heber C. Kiiiiball: and on the 22nd of
July, 1843, he married to me, according to
the order of the Church, my first wife Ruth.

"On the Ist day of May, 1843, I offidated
in the office of an Elder by marrying Lucy
Walker to the Prophet Joseph Smith, at his

own residence.

"During this period the Prophet Joseph
took several other wives. Amongst thenum-
ber I well remember Eliza Partridge, Emily
Partridge, Sarah Ann Whitney, Helen Kim-
bal! and Flora W^oodworth. These all, he
acknowledgedto me, were his lawful, wedded
wives, according to the celestial order. His
wife Emma was cognizant of the faet of

some, if not all, of these being his wives,and
she generally treated them very kindly.

"On the morning of the 12th of July, 1843,

Joseph and Hyrum Smith came into the
office in the upper story of the 'brick store,'

on the bank of the Mississippi River. They
were talking on the subject of plural mar-
riage. Hyrum said to Joseph, 'If you will

write the revelation on celestial marriage, I

will take and read it to Emma, and I be-
lieve I ean convince her of its truth, and you
will hereaftcr have peace.' Joseph smiled
and remarked, 'You do not know Emma as
well as I do.' Hynuu repeated his opinion
and further remarked, 'The doctrine is so
plain, I can convince any reasonable man or
woman of its truth, purity or heavenly
origin,' or words to their effect. Joseph
then said, ' Well, I will write the revelation

and we will see.' He then requested me to

get paper and prepare to write. Hyrum
very urgently requested Joseph to write the
revelation by means of the Urim and Thum-
mim, but Joseph, in reply, said he did not
need to, for he knew the revelation perfectly

from beginning to end.

"Joseph and Hyrum then sat downand Jo-



226 PLUKAL MAKRIAGE.

seph commenced to dictate the revelation on

celestial marriage, and I wrote it, sentence

by sentence, as he dictated. After the whole

was written, Joseph asked me to read it

through, slowly and carefully, which I did,

and he pronounced it correct. He then re-

marked that there was mueh more that he

could write, on the same subject, but what

was writen was sufficient for the present.

"Hyrum then took the revelation to read

to Emma. Joseph remained with me in the

Office until Hyrum returned. Whcn he came

back, Joseph asked hira how he had suc-

ceeded. Hyrum replied that he had never

received a more severe talking to in his life,

that Emma was very bitter and fuU of re-

sentment and anger.

"Joseph quietly remarked, 'I told you you

did not know Emma as well as I did' Jo-

seph then put the revelation in his pocket,

and they both left the office.

"The revelation was read to several of the

authorities during the day. Towards even-

Ing Bishop Newel K. Whitney asked Joseph

If he bad any objeetions to his taking a copy

of the revelation ; Joseph replied that he had

not, and handed it to him. It was carefully

copied the following day by Joseph C. Kings-

bury. Two or three days aftet the revela-

tion was written Joseph related to me and

several others that Emma had so teased,

and urgently entreated him for the privilege

of destroying it, that he became so wearj' of

her teasing, and to get rid of her annoyance,

he told her she might destroy it and she had

done so, but he had consented to her wish

in this malter to pacify her, realizing that

he knew the revelation perfeclly, and could

rewrite it at any time if necessary.

"The copy made by Joseph C. Kingsbury

is a true and correct copy of the original in

every respect. The copy was carefully pre-

served by Bishop Whitney, and but few

knew of its existence until the temporary

location of the Camps of Israel at Winter

Quarters, on the Missouri River, in 1846.

"After the revelation on celestial marriage

was written Joseph continued his instruc-

tions, privately, on the doctrine, '.o myself

and others, and during the last year of his

life we were scarcely ever together, alone,

but be was talking on the subject, and ex-

plaining that doctrine and principles con-

nected with it. He appeared to enjoy great

llberty and freedom in his teachings, and

also to find great relief in having a few to

whom he could unhosom his feelings on that

great and glorious subject.

"From him I learned that the doctrine of

plural and celestial marriage is Ihe mostholy

and iuiportant doctrine everrevealed to man

on the earth, and that withoiit obedience to

that principle no man can ever attain to the

fulness of exaltation in celestial glory.

(Signed) William C'layton.

"Salt Lake City, Febniary 16th, 1874."

JOSEPH C. kingsbury' S TESTIMONT.

The following statement was given

under oath before Charles W. Stay-

ner, a notary public, in Salt I.ake

City, May 22, 1886:

"In reference to theaffidavit of ElderWil-

liam Clayton, on Ihe subject of the celestial

order of patriarchal marriage, published in

the Deseret Evening News of May 20th,

1886, and parlicularly to the statement

made therein concerning myself, as having

copied the original revelation written by

Brother Clayton at the dictation of the

Prophet .Joseph,! will say that Bishop Newel

K. Whitney handed me the revelation above

referred to on either the day it was written

or the day following, and stating that it was

asked me to lake a copy of it. I did so, and

then read my copy of it to Bishop Whitney,

who oompared it with the original whioh he

held in his hånd while I read to him. When
I had finished reading. Bishop Whitney pro-

nounced the copy correct, and Hyrum .Smith

coming into the room at the fime to feteh

the original, B-sbop Whitney handed it to

him. I will also state Ihat this copy, as also

the original, are identically the same as Ihat

publisbed in Ihe present edition of the Book

of Doctrine and Covenants.

"I will add Ihat I also knew ihiit the

Propbet Joseph Smith had married olher

women besirtes his first wife—Emma; I was

well aware of Ihe faet of his having married

Sarah Ann Whitney, the eldest dautrbter of

Bishop Newel K. Whitney and Elizabeth

Ann Whitney, bis wife. And Ihe Prophet

Joseph told me persnnally that he had mar-

ried other women. in accordance with the

revealed will of God, and spoke concerning

the principle as being a cominand of God for

holy purposes.

(Signed) Joseph C. Kingsbuky."

THOMAS GROVEK'S TESTnUONT.

"Farmington, Diivis Co., Utah,

Jan. 10, 1885.

"A. M. Mttsser:

"Your note is before me, and I answer

with pleasure.

"Now, concerning the matter about wbich

you ask information. I don't know of any

member of that High Council living except

myself. Leonard Soby may still be living.



PLURAL MARRIAGE. 227

He apostatized on the strength of that rev-

elation.

"The High Council of Nauvoo was called

together by the Prophet Joseph Smith, to

know whether they would accept the rev-

elation on celestial marriage or not.

"The Presidency of the Stalie, Wm. Marks,

Father Cowles and the late Apostle Charles

C. Rich were there present. The following

are the names of the High Council that were

present, in their order, viz : Samuel Bent,

William Hnnlington, Alpheus Cutler, Thos.

Grover, Lewis D. Wilson, David Fullmer,

Aaron Johnson, Newel Knight, Leonard

Soby, James Allred, Henry G. Sherwood
and, I thiuk, Samuel H. Smith.

"Brother Byrum was called upon to read

the revelation. He did so, and after the

reading said, 'Now, you that believe this

revelation and go forth and obey the same
shall be saved, and you that reject it shall

be damned.'

"We saw this prediction verified in less

than one week. Of the Presidency of the

Stake, Wm. Marks and Father Cowles re-

Jected the revelation; of the Council that

were present Leonard Soby rejected it.

From that time forward there was a very

strong division in the High Council. These
three men greatly diminished in spirit day
after diiy, so that there was a great difference

in the line of their conduct, which was per-

eeivable to every member that Ivept the

faith.

"From that time forward we often re-

ceived instructions from the Prophet as to

what was the will of the Lord and how to

proceed.

"After this the Prophet's life was con-

stantly in danger. Being one of his life

guard, I watched his interests and safety up
to the time of his death.

"Wm. Marks died in Hlinois. C. C. Rich
died in Paris, Bear Lake County, Idaho, in

fuU faith. Samuel Bent died in Garden
Grove, Iowa, in full faith. Wm. Huntington
died in Pisgah, Iowa, in full faith. Alpheus
Cutler apostatized, and died in Iowa. Lewis
D. Wilson died atOgden, in full faith. David
Fullmer died in Salt Lake City, in full faith.

Aaron Johnson died at Sijvingville, in full

faith. Newel Knight died at Ponca, Ne-
braska Leonard Soby went with Sidney
Rigdon trom Nauvoo. James Allred died in

Sanpete, in fiiU faith. Henry 6. Sherwood
came here with the Pioneers and died in

San Bernardino, Cai., out of the Church, I

understand. Samuel H. Smith died at Nau-
voo, in ful! faith.

Thomas Grover."

DAVID FDLLMER S TESTIMONY.

"Territorv of Utah, 1 „^
County of Salt Lake. J

^^"

"Be it remembcred that on this fifteenth

day of June, A. D. 1869, personally appeared
before me, James Jack, a notary pul)lic in

and for said county, David Fullmer, who
was by me swnrn in due form of law, and
upon his oath saith, that on or abnut the

twelfth day of Aug., A. D. 1843, while in

meeting wilh the High Council (he being a

member thereof), in Hynim .'^niith's br ck

oiliee, in the city. of Nauvoo, Couniy of

Hancock, State of Illinois, Dunbar Wilson
made enquiry in relation to the subjfct of a

plurality of wives, as there were rumors
ab"iit respeeting it, and he was s-alisfied

there was sometli ng in those remarks, and
he wanted to know what it was, upon whieh
Hvnnn Smith stepped across the road to his

residcnce, and soon returned liringing with

him a copy of the revelation on celestial

marriage. given to .Joseph Smith. Julv ]2th,

A. D. 1843, and read the same to the High
Council, and bore testimony to its truth.

The said David Fullmer further saith Ihat,

to the best of his memory and belief, the

following nnmed persons were present: Wm.
Marks, Atustin A. Cowles, Samuel Bent,
Geo. W. Harris. Dunbar Wilson,M'm. Hunt-
ingion, Levi Jackman, Aaron Johnson, Thos.
Grover, David P'ullmer, Phinehas liich:irds,

James Allred and Leonard Soby. And the

said David Fullmer further ^aith that Wni.
Marks, Auslin A. Cowles and Leonard Soby
were the only iieisons present who d d not
receive the tesiimony of .Hyrnm Smith, and
that all the others did receive il from Ihe
teaching and testi' onyof ihe sa'd Hvrum
Smith. And further, that the.copy of said

revelation on celestial marr age, pirblished

in the Dpseret Ncivs extra of September 14th,

A. D. 18.52, is a true copy of the snnie.

(Signed) David Fullmer.
"Subscribed and sworn to by> the said

David Fullmer the day and year first above
written.

[SEAL] James Jack.
Ncitary Public."

LEOTsARD SOBT'S TESTIMON V.

The following was publislud in ihe

Ogden Herald, in January, ISMfi:

"Our readers will remember, thai in Ihe

corrisponilence uhich passed betwccn Kicler

Liltlelield and .Joseph Smith, juii., ol' ilin

reorganized chuich, soine time since, Mr.
Smit'a challenged Elder Liltlelield \,, frive

the names of parties who were pie-ciU and
heard the rovelalion on celeslinl nirn-riage
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» read before the High Council at Nauvoo.

Among the names given by Elder Littlefield

was that of Leonard Soby. The prophet of

the reorganized church knew where Mr.
Soby resided, and instrueted a member of

his church in high standing to draw up an

affidavit, stating that Mr. Soby was not

present at such meeting, and never heard

the revelation read.

"The affidavit was drawn up under the

instructious of Joseph Smith, jiin., and Mr.

Gurley, who was something of a lawyer,

called on Mr. Soby at his home iu Beverly,

New Jersey, and recjuested him to sign It.

The affidavit stated that Mr. Soby was pres-

ent at the High Council meeting rcferred

to, but did not hear the revelation read.

When Mr. Gurley requested Mr. Soby to

sign the document, Soby objected, saying

he was present at the meeting, and did hear

the revelation read, and could not sign an

affidavit to the contrary. This considerably

diseoncerted his interlocutor, and Mr. Soby

added: 'If you will draw up au affidavit set-

ting forth that I was there and did hear the

revelation read, I will sign it for you.' Mr.

Gurley, however, did not w-ant that kind of

testimony, and retired ralher crestfallen,

but wiser, and has since apostatized from

the reorganized church.

"Mr. Soby, quite recently, had business in

the State of Pennsylvania, and while there

related the occurrence to a gentlenian named
Samuel Harrison.

"Leonard Soby is aboutthe only personnow
li\'ing who was present at the High Council

meeting at which the revelation ou celestial

marriage was read. His home is at Beverly,

New Jersey. '

We annex the following extracts

from a communication written to the

Deseret Neivs by James S. Brooks,

of San Bernardino, Cai., and dated

March 26, 1886.

"I saw an account in January last, in the

Ogden Herald, wherein Mr. Leonard Soby,

of New Jersey, is made to testify that he

was present at the High Council in Nauvoo,

and that he heard the revelation upon celes-

tial marriage there read ; also that au affida-

vit had been represcnted to him by Mr.

Gurley, dictated by Mr. Joseph Smith, the

leader of the Josephite faction, which he,

Mr. Soby, was requested to sign, stating that

he was not present at that council, and did

not hear the revelation read, which he re-

fused to do, but oftered to sign one to the

contrary. Knowing that to be one of the

props upon which the Josephites build their

escuse for rejecting the revelation, I showed

the article to one of their members in this

place. He said: ' Mr. Gurley will say any-

thing now that he has left our church.'

"I saw immediately that they were no

more ready to accept that evidence than any

other; indeed they do not want the truih;

it is not facts that they are seekiug after.

In order to do away with that quibble I

wrote to Mr. Soby myself, informing him of

the statement of the interview between him-

self and Mr. Gurley, as published in the

Ogden Herald, asking him if it was correct,

and below is a copy of the letter I received

from him. It is well to have such evidence

on record, as Mr. Soby is now the only living

witness that was present at the council, as I

see by the Deseret iVeiCs that Mr. Thomas
Grover died last month, he too having left

his testimony as to being present a'nd hear-

ing it read.

"LEONARD SOBY'S LETTER.

" Beverly, N. J., Feb. 26, 1886.

'Bjarnes S. Brooks:

"Dear SiR-Yours of lith at hånd, and

would State the facts given in the Herald in

regard to myself and Mr. Gurley are true.

I was present at the High Council iu Nau-
voo when that revelation was read, and know
it to be true, and 1 hope the Lord will bless

you to see the truth as I do.

Eespectfully, your humble servaut,

Leonard Soby, (a witness)."

HOWAED GOKAT's TESTrUONT.

"Territorv of Utah, )

County of Salt Lake. J

"As many false statements have ueen

made iu relation to the authorship of the

revelation on celestial marriage, I deem it

but Justice to all lovers of truth for me to

express what I know concerning this very

important matter.

"On the 22ud dav of July, A. I). 1843,

Hyrum Smith, the martyred Patri.arch,came

in a carriage to my house in Nauvoo; he in-

vited me and m'y wife to take a ride with

him; accordingly, as soon as we could make
ourselves ready, we got into the carriage

and he set oft in the direction of Carthage.

Having gone a short distance, he observed

to us that his brother, Joseph Smith, the

Prophet, had received a revelation on mar-
riage, that was not for (he public yet, which
he would rehearse to us, as he had taken

pains to comniit it to memory. He then

commenced rehearsiug the revelation on
celestial marriage, not stopping till he had
gone quite through with the matter. After

which he reviewed that part pertaining to

plurality of wives, dwelling at some length
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upon the same in order thatwemightclearly
understand the principle. And on the same
day (July 22nd, 1843) he sealed niy wife,

formcrly Martha Jane Knowlton, to me: and
when I heard the revelation on celestial

niarriage read on the stand in Salt Lake City

in 1S52, I recognized it, as the same as that

repeated to me by Brother Hyrum Smith.
Not long after this I was present when
Brother David Fullmerand wifewere sealed

by Brother Hyrum Smith, the martyred
Patriarch, aecording to the law of celestial

niarriage. And, besides the forcgoing, there

was i|iiite enough came withiu the conipass

of ray observation to have fully satisfied my
mind that plural marriage was practieed in

the city of Xauvoo.
(Signed) Howard Corav.

"Subscribed and sworn to before me this

12th day of June, A. D. 1S8-2.

[.SEAL.] James Jack,
"Notary Public for Salt Lake County.Ulah."

KERCT E. THOMPSOn'S TESTIMONT.

"Salt Lake City, Jan. 31, 1886.

"A. M. Musser:

"Dear Brother—Having noticed in the

Deseret Neirs an enquiry for testimony con-

cerning the revelation on plural marriage,

and having read the testimony of Brother

Grover, it came to my mind that perhaps it

would be right for me to add my testimony

to his on the subjectof Brother Hyrum read-

Ing it to the High Council. I well renicmber

the circumstanee. I remember he told me
he had read it to the brethren in his office.

He put it iuto my hånds and left it with me
for several days. I had been sealed to him
by Brother Joseph a few weelcs pre\iously,

and 1\'as well acquainted with almost every

member of the High Council, and know
Brother Grover'.s testimony to l)e correct.

Now if this testimony would be of any use

to such as are weak in the faith or tempted
to doubt, I should be very tliankful. Please

make use of this in any way you think best,

as well as the copy of the letter addressed to

Joseph Smith, at Lammii. Your Sister in

the Gospel. Mercy E. Thompson."

"Salt Lake City, Sept. 5, 1883.

"Mr. Joseph Smith, Lamoni, III.:

"Dear Sir—After having asked myFather
in heaven to aid me, I sit down to vrrite a

few lines a'i dietated by the Holy Spirit.

"Atter reading the correspondcnce be-

twecn you and L. O. Littleficld I eoncluded
it was the dutv of some one to bear a testi-

mony which could not be disputed. Find-
ing from your letters to Littletield that no

one of your father's friends had performed
this duty while you were herc, now I vrill

begin at once and tell you my expcrience.

"My beloved husband, B. B. Thompson,
your father's private seerctary to the end of

his mortal life, died August 2"th, 1841, (I

presume you will remember him.) Nearly
two years after his death your father told

me that my husband had appeared to him
several times, telling him that he did not

wish me to live such a lonely life, and wished
him to request your unole Hyrum to have
me sealed to him for time. Hyrum com-
municatcd this to his wife (my sister) who,
by rcquest, opened the subject to me, when
everything wilhin me rose in oijposition to

such a step, but when your f.ather callcd and
explained the subject to me, I dared not

refuse to ol^ey tlie counsel, lest peradven-

ture I should be found fighting against God;
and especially when he told me the last time

my husband appeared to him he came with
such power that it made him trenible. He
then enquired of the Lord what he should

do; the answer was, ' Go and do as my ser-

vant hath required.' He then took an op-

portunity of eomnuinicating this to your
uncle Hyrum who told me that the Holy
Spirit rested upon him fi-om the orown of

his head to the soles of his feet. The time

was appointed, with the consent of all par-

ties, and your father sealed me to your uncle

Hyrum for time, in my sister's room, with a

covenant to deliver rae up in the morning of

the resurrection to Robert Biaskel Thomp-
son, with whatever offspring should be the

result of that union, at the same time coun-

seling your uncle to build a room for me
and move me over as soon as convenient,

which he did, and I remained there as a wife

the same as my sister to the day of his death.

All this I am ready to testify to in the pres-

ence of God, angels and men. * * *

Mercy R. Thompson."

LUCT W. KIMBALt/s TESTIMONT.

"When the Prophet Joseph Smith first

mentioned the principle of plural marriage

to me I became very indignant, and told him
emphatically that I did not wish him ever to

mention it to me again, as my feeliugs .ind

education revolted against any thing of such

a natxire. He counseled me, however, to

pray to the Lord for light and understand-

ing in relation thereto, and promised me if

I would do so sincerely, I should receive a

testimony of the correctness of the principle.

At length I eoncluded to foUow this advice,

and the consequence was that the Prophet's

promise unto me was fultilled to the verv

letter. Before praying I felt gioomy and
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dovrncast; in faet, I was so intirely giveu up
to clispair that I felt tired of life; but after I

had poured out uiy heart's contents before

God, I at once became calm and composed;
a fceling of happiness took possession of me,
and at the same time I received a powerful
and i'i-esistble testimony of the truth of

plural man-iage, whieh testimony has abided
With nie e\'er since. Shortly afterwavds I

consentedto become the l'iophet's wife, and
was mairied to him May 1, 18-13, Elder Wil-
liam Clayton oftlciating. I am also able to

testify that Emma Smith, the Prophet's first

wife, gave her consent to the marriage of at

least four other girls to her husband, and
that she was well aware that he associated

with thcm as wives withiu the meaning of

all that word implies. This is proven by the

faet that she herself, on several oecasions,

kept guard at the door to prevent disinter-

ested persons from intruding, when these

ladies were in the house.

Lucy W, KiMBALL."

OKSON peatt's testimony.

"At a meeting held in Piano, Illi-

nois, Sept. 12, 1878, Apostle Orson
Pratt explained the circumstances
connected with the coming forth of
the revelation on plural marriage.
He refuted the statement and belief

of those present that Brigham Young
was the author of that revelation

;

showed that Joseph Smith, the
Prophet, had not only commenced
the practice of that principle him-
self, and further taught it to others,
before President Young and the
Twelve had return ed from tlieir mis-
sions in Europe, in 1841, but that
Joseph actuallj' received revelation
upon that principle as early as 1831.
He said, 'Lyman Johnson, who was
very familiar with Joseph at this

early date, Joseph liviiig at his

father's house, and who was also
very intimate with me, we having
traveled on several missions together,
told me himself that Joseph had made
known to him as early as 1831, that
plural marriage was a correct prin-
ciple. Joseph declared to Lyman
that God had revealed it to him, but
that the time had not come to teach
or practice it in the Church, but that
the timp would come.' To this state-

ment Elder Pratt bore his testimony.
He cited several instances of Joseph

having had wives sealed to him, one
at least as early as April 5, 1841,
which was some time prior to the
return of the Twelve from England.
Referred to his own irial in regard
to this matter in Nauvoo, and said it

was because he got his information
from a wicked source, from those
disaffected, but as soonas he learned
the truth he was satisfied."

LYMAN o, LITTLEFIELD's TESTIMONY.

"The doctrine of celestial marriage,
I have the best of reasons for be-
lieving, was understood and believed
by him (Joseph Smith, the Prophet)
awa}' hack in the days when he
lived iu Kirtland, when he and the
Saints, iu their povertj', were toiling

to erect that sacred edifice (the Kirt-

land Temple),wherein you (referring

to Joseph Smith, the son of the

Prophet) now falsify him, seeking,
by your unsupported dec'araiions,

to nullify his most sacred doctriues.

Even there, as I believe, he was in-

structed of the Lord respecting the
sacred ordinance of plural marriage

;

but he was not required to reveal it

to the Church until some time dur-
iug the residence of the Saints at

Nauvoo, where he received a revela-

tion from the Lord setting forth in

detail the results to he obtained by
keeping inviolate all the laws con-
nected with this sacred condition of

things. x\nd in consequcnce of the

prejudices of the Samts and the^ide
of persecution which he well knew
he would have to encounter from the

outside world, wherein his life would
be endangered, he delayed, as long
as possihle, to make this principle

known, except to a few of the most
faithful and humhle of the Saints."

For further information the reader

is referred to Elder L.O. Littlefield's

correspondance with Joseph Smith,

of the reorganized church, published

in the MUL Star, Vol. 45, pages 385,

443, 561, etc.

ALLEN J. STOUT'S testimony.

"At a meeting held at Rockville,

Washington Co., Utah, Dec. 23,1885,
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in commemoration of the Prophet
Joseph Smith's birthilay, Allen J.

Stout, sen., testified, that while act-

ing as one of the Prophet' s body
guard in the Nauvoo Mansion, only
a single door separating him from
the family, he listened to a (konver-

sation which took place between Jo-
seph and Emma Smith, on the much
vaunted subject of plural marriage.
Tbis impulsive woman from moments
of passionate denuuciation would sub-
side into tearful repentance and ac-

knowledge that her violent opposi-
tion to that principle was instigated

by the power of darkness ; that Satan
was doing his utmust to destroy her,

etc. And solemnly came the Proph-
et's inspired warning 'Yes, and he
will accomplish your overthrovf, if

you do not heed my counsel.' "

(From a letter published in the

De.teret Evening News of Jan. 20,

1885.)

BISHOP S. A. WOOLLEY's TESTIMONT.

"In September, 1843, at Nauvoo,
111., I was taken very sick, so mueh
so that most of mj' folks thought I

could not recover. During the time
of my illness the Prophet Joseph and
Patriarch Hyrum Smith came and ad-
ministered to me frequently. Father
Joseph Smith, in a blessing previous-
ly given me, had made me a eertain

promise in regard to living, in whieh
I had the most implicit confidence

;

and when 1 heard friends say (al-

though so far gone that I did not re-

cognize any one) that I would never
get well, I would whisper 'Yes, I

will, Father Smith promised that I

should live to ste the coming of the

Son of Man.' Brother Hyrum said,

because of my faith in that blessing,

I would not die at that time. The
house, in which we lived, wasa two-
story one, and on the east side was
built a store, from which a door
opened into the sitting room. Dur-
ing m}' sickness I occupied one of
the up-stair rooms.
One afternoon in the month of

October, A. D. 1843, I think on a
Tuesday, about 2 o'clock (I cannot
explain just how I knew it was 2

o'clock, but I knew itj, I found my-

self in the sitting room down stairs,

and walking to the door leading into
the store, I saw my brother Edwin
D. putting up the shutters of the
store as though it was night. I

turned around, saw Mary, his wife,
putting down the blinds of the Win-
dows in the sitting room. I stood
and looked and wondered what was
to be done. I saw two or three
other persons there ; and presently
some others, inchiding Patriarch
Hyrum Smith, came in. The fire-

place was in the north end of the

room, and Hyrum sat down at the

east end of the grate with his face
turned to the northwest. Presently
I saw him take a paper out of his

coat pocket, and I walked up to bis

left hånd side, looked over his shoul-

der, and, as he opened the paper, I

read 'A Revelation on Eternal i\lar-

riage and Plurality of Wives,' etc.

He then commenced to read what is

now known as the revelation on plural

marriage. I also read it myself as

fast as he did. He stopped and ex-

plained as he went along. There was
a sister present by the name of Ger-
man, who, when he had read to a

eertain point, went to the southwest
wiudow, raised the curtain, looked
out, then turned around and said,

'Brother Hyrum, don't rea i any
more, I am full up to here,' drawing
her hånd across her throat. It was
there told me by the same power
that informed me it was 2 o'clock,

that that revelation was of God, and
that no man could or would receive

a fulness nf relestial gloryand eternal

life, except he obeyed that law. and

had more than one living wife at the

same time. From this time I com-
menced to get well, and did so very
speedily. In the course of a few
days I was down in the sitting room,
and one day, as we sat by the fire,

my sister-in-law (Mary) and .Sister

German, who boarded there, v>ere

taking about that principle allegori-

cally. I remarked, 'JVfary, tbee need
not be afraid to talk right out about
that principle, for I know more about
it than thee does.' 'What principle?'

said she. 'Why, that principle about
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a man having more wives than one,'

I replied. Sbe looked with amaze-
ment and said, ' What does thee

mean?' (We were raised Quakers.)

'I mean,' said I, 'that I stood right

there ' pointing to the place) when
Brother Hyrum read that revelation

the other day.' 'What revelation?'

said she (seeming very incredulous .

'Why, the one on plural marriage.'

I answered. My brother Edwin D.

testifled in a public meeting in Manti,

Sanpete Co., a numher of years ago,

that tlie revelation was read by Bro.

Hyrum just as I said, but he (Edwin
D. 1 did not see me there, and he

could not relate it as accuratel}' as I

have done. Were I to go back on
every other principle of what the

world cali 'Mormonism,' I would
have to acknowledge that the prin-

ciple of plural marriage is of God.
I, like Paul of old, whether in the

body or out, saw and heard things

which were unlawful to utter at that

time, for I understood that I vrås not

to tell anyone, or to talk to anyone
about it, except those who already

knew about it."

APOSTLE ERASTUS SNOVT'S TESTIMONY :

"The Prophet Joseph Smith first

taught me the doctrine of celestial

marriage, inciuding a plurality of

wives, in Nauvoo, 111., in April, 1843.

He also told me of those women he

had taken to wives. My wife's sis-

ter, Louisa Beman, was his first

plural wife, she being sealed to him
by my brother-in-law, Joseph B.

Noble, April 5, 1841. She was the

daiighter of Alva and Sarah Burtt

Beman. The Prophet Joseph also

gave me the privilege of taking an-

other wife, which 1 did in March,

1844, the Patriarch Hyrum Smith
offleiating under the Prophet' s direc-

tion."

SARAH 51. KIMBALl's TESTIMOXY.

"Early in the year 1842, Joseph
Smith taught me the principle of

marriage for eternity, and the doc-

trine of plural marriage. He said

that in teaching this he realized that

he jeopardized his life ; but God had

revealed it to him many years before
as a privilege with blessings, now
God had revealed it again and in-

structed him to teach it with com-
mandment, as the Church could
travel (progress) no further without
the introduction of this principle. I

asked him to teach it to some one
else. He looked at me reprovingly,
and said, ' Will you tell me who to

teach it to? God required me to

teach it to you, and leave you with
the responsibility of believing or dis-

believing.' He said, 'I will not
cease to pray for 3'ou, and if you
will seek unto God in prayer, you
will not be led into temptation.' "

ADDITIONAL TESTIMONY.

"At a quarterly Stake conference
held at Centrevilie, Davis Co., Utah,
June 11, 1883, Elder Arthur Stayner
read an affldavit made by Elder
Thomas Grover. The substance of

the document was that the affiant

was a raember of the High Council
of the Church, that in 1843 Hyrum
Smith, the Patriarch, appeared at

the meeting of that body and pre-

sented the revelation on celestial

marriage, at the same time declaring
it to be from God.
"After the reading of this paper

Elder Grover made a statement to

the effect that Hyrum there aud then
asserted that those brethren who
received the revelation should be
blessed and preserved, while those

whorejected it would go down. Nine
membersof the Council accepted and
three took a stand against it. Those
three subsequently apostatized, were
exoommunicated from the Church
and are all now dead (except one).

"Elder .Joseph B. Noble next ad-
dressed the conference. He stated

that the Prophet Joseph told him
that the doctrine of celestial mar-
riage was revealed to him while he
was engaged on the work of trans-

lation of the Scriptures, but when
the communication was first made
the Lord stated that the time for the

practice of that principle had not
arrived. Subsequently, he stated,

the angel of the Lord appeared to
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him and informed hiin that tbe time

had fully come. Elder Noble sealed

his wife's sister to Joseph, that be-

ing the first plural inarriage con-

summated. The Prophet gave the

form of the ceremony, Elder Noble
repeating the wordsafter him. P21der

Noble bore testimon}- to the purity

of character of his sister-in-law, who
was a woman of irreproachable mo-
rality, who entered into the plural

marriage relation on a deep-seated
conviction that the doctrine was from
God.

"President Taylor spoke briefly,

stating that he was present at a meet-
ing of the leading authorities of the

Church in Nauvoo, at wbich the sub-
ject of the revelation on celestial

marriage was laid before them and
unanimously received as from God.
Joseph deelared that unless it was
received the Church could progress
no further. Soon after he met the

Prophet Joseph, who, addressing the

speaker, said the time had come
when lie must embrace the doctrine

of plural marriage.
"President George Q. Cannon de-

livered a thrillingly powerful dis-

course on the subject of plural mar-
riage, showing that while those who
had entered into that relation prop-
erly had, as a rule, been greatly
blessed, men who had tampered with
the other sex outside of the ' mar-
riage relation,' had wilted and gone
down in every instance. Those who
had embraeed the doctrine were the

leading men of the Church, posses-
sing the Holy Spirit to a much more
than ordinary degree. The speaker
showed huw the Lord had not con-
fined His blessing to any class, or
special families, but men of humble
origin had been selected as his in-

struments to forward his purposes.
It would yet transpire, he said, that

God would take men out of the
humbler walks of hfe and of them
make Apostles and Prophets, who
would perform mighty works in His
name. The discourse was reported
in fuU."

We could produce hundreds of

other testimonies of a similar nature

to these given above, were it neces-

sary, but what we have already given

must be deemed fully sufficient to

prove, beyond a shadow of doubt,

that Joseph Smith, the Prophet, did

teach and practice the principle of

plural marriage inhis lifetime. Sum-

ming up the information received

from the parties already mentioned

and from other sources, we find that

the following named ladies, besides

a few others, anout whom we have

been unable to get all the neces-

sary information, were sealed to the

Prophet Joseph Smith during the

last three years of his life. Bio-

graphical sketches of some of these

ladies are published in this number

of the Record, and others will be

published hereafter:

Louisa Beman, married to the

Prophet April 5, 1841, Joseph B.

Noble offlciating. See sketch,

page

Fanny Alger, one of the first

plural wives sealed to tbe Prophet.

See sketch, fiage

Lucinda Harris, also one of the

first women sealed to the Prophet

Joseph. See sketch, jmge

Zina D. Huntington, afterwards

the wife of Pres. Brigham Young,

sealed to the Prophet Oct. 27, 1841,

Dimick B. Huntington officiating.

Her sister Fanny was present as a

witness. See sketch, page

Prescindia L. Huntington, after-

wards the wife of Heber C. Kimball,

sealed to Joseph Dec. 11, 1841,

Dimick B. Huntington officiating

and Fanny A. Huntington present

as a witness. See sketch, piage

Eliza Roxcy Snow, married to the

Prophet June 29, 1842, Pres. Brig-

ham Young offlciating. See sketch,

page

Sarah Ann Whitney, afterwards
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the wife of Pres. Heber C. Kimball,

married to Joseph July 27, 1842,

her father Newel K. Whitney officia-

ting. See sketch, jKige

Desdemona W. Fullmer, married

in 1842. See sketch, page 235.

Helen Mar Kimball, daughter of

Pres. Heber C. Kimball and after-

wards the wife of Horace K. Whit-

ney, married to Joseph in May,
1843. See sketch, parje

Eliza M. Partridge, afterwards the

Tvife of Amasa M. Lyman, married

to Joseph May 11, 1843, Elder

James Adams offlciating. See sketch,

page 236.

Emily D. Partridge, afterwards

the wife of Pres. Brigham Young,
married to tlie Prophet May 11,

1843, Elder James Adams officiating.

See sketch, page 240.

Lucy Walker, afterwards the wife

of Pres. Heber C. Kimball, married

to the Prophet May 1, 1843, Elder

Wm. Clayton offlciating. See sketch,

page 236.

Almera W. Johnson, married to

the Prophet in August, 1843. See

sketch, page 235.

Malissa Lott, afterwards the wife

of Ira Jones Willes, married to Jo-

seph Sept. 20, 1843. See sketch,

pa.ge 119.

Fanny Young, a sister of Pres.

Brigham Young, married to Joseph

Nov. 2, 1843. Brigham Young of-

flciating. See sketch, page

Maria Lawrence, a sister of Henry
W. Lawrence, of Salt Lake City,

married in 1843. See sketch, page .

Sarah Lawrence, a sister of Henry
W. Lawrence, of Salt Lake City,

married to Joseph in 1843. See

sketch, pcLge

Hannah Elis, sister of Dr. Josiah

Elis, of Nauvoo. »See sketch, page

Flora Ann Woodworth, daughter

of Lueien Woodworth. See sketch,

page

Ruth D.Vose,known as the wife of

Edward Sayers. See sketch, page .

Mary Elizabeth Eollins, uow liv-

ing in Minersville, Beaver Co., Utah.

See sketch, page

Olive Frost, afterwards the wife

of Pres. Brigham Young. See sketch

below.

Rhoda Richards, daughter of Jo-

seph and Rhoda Richards. See

sketch, page

Sylvia Sessions, daughter of David

and Patty Sessions. »See sketch.

Maria Winchester, daughter of

Benjamin Winchester, sen. »See

sketch, page

Elvira A. Cowles, afterwards the

wife of Jonathan H. Holmes. See

sketch, ptage

Sarah M. Cleveland. »See sketch,

page

MISCEIiLANlJOUS.
FKOST, (Olive Grey,) daughter ofAaron

Frost and Susan Grey, was born in the town
of Bethel, Oxford Co., Maine, July 24, 1816.

She possessed a happy and genial disposi-

tion, and gained many friends, whose friend-

ship grew stronger as time advauced and
theylearned toappreciate hergood qualities.

When qiilte young she was religiously in-

clined, and would often retire to some pri-

vate place, with a choscn companion, to

pour out her soul in secret prayer to that

Being, who rewards openly, and frequeutly

she incurred ridiciile thereby from those

who were less sober minded. When about

eighteen years of age she and her particular

frieud, Miss J,ouisa Foster, learned the

tailoress tråde, and they went together trom
place to place, among their acquaintances,to

work at this business, thereby being able to

lighten the labors of the busy house\^aves.

While engageii at this work in the ueigh-

boring town of Dixfield, Elder Duncan Mc-




